IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN FLOYD VOSS.

No. 81472

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 23 2021 09:02 p.m.

------,

Dist. Court No. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County Honorable Kathleen Drakulich, District Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Tracie K. Lindeman, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 5049
P.O. Box 3733
Carson City, NV 89702
(775) 297-4877
tlindeman@appellatesolution.com
Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, of one count of burglary, two counts of uttering a forged instrument, two counts of forgery, and one count of attempted theft. II AA 274-76. The judgment of conviction was entered on July 8, 2020. *Id.* Appellant, Steven Voss, timely filed a notice of appeal from that judgment on July 10, 2020. II AA 277-78. This court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals because it does not involve a conviction for any offenses that are category A or B felonies. NRAP 17(b)(2).

STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the district court abused its discretion by denying appellant's presentencing motions in limine.
- II. Whether the sentence imposed at resentencing runs afoul of the concerns expressed in the findings of fact and conclusions of law upon which the resentencing was predicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Clarke was originally convicted, pursuant to a jury verdict of burglary (Count I), uttering a forged instrument (Counts II and III), forgery (Counts IV and V), and attempted theft (Count VI). Subsequent to the dismissal of his direct appeal, Mr. Voss filed a pro se petition for a writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction). I AA 008. The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing, and on August 9, 2001, entered an order granting relief, in part. I AA 008-14. In particular, the district court found that the sentence imposed was based on impalpable or suspect evidence, and therefore concluded that Mr. Voss was entitled to a new sentencing hearing. I AA 013-14.

On August 15, 2018, the Nevada Court of Appeals entered an order granting Mr. Voss's pro se petition for extraordinary relief, based on the district court's failure to conduct a new sentencing hearing. I AA 017-19. The court issued a writ of mandamus, instructing the district court to resentence Mr. Voss, as directed in the August 9, 2001, order. I AA 018-19.

The district court finally conducted a new sentencing hearing on July 7, 2020. II AA 233-78. A new judgment of conviction was entered by the district court on July 8, 2020. II AA 279-81. Mr. Voss filed a timely notice of appeal on July 10, 2020. II AA 282-83.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Voss was found guilty by a jury, of one count of burglary (Count I), two counts of uttering a forged instrument (Counts II and III), two counts of forgery (Counts IV and V), and one count of attempted theft (Count VI). I AA 006-07. The Hon. James Stone sentenced Mr. Voss: for Count I, to a term of 48 to 120 months; for Counts II and III, to a term of 16 to 48 months for each count; for Counts IV and V, to a term of 16 to 48 months for each count; and for Count VI, to a term of 16 to 48 months. *Id.* All terms were made consecutive. *Id.*

Following the dismissal of his direct appeal, Mr. Voss filed a pro se petition for a writ of habeas corpus. The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing and on August 9, 2001, entered findings of fact and conclusions of law. I AA 008-15. The district court found merit in Mr. Voss's argument that the sentence imposed was based on impalpable or suspect evidence. Specifically, the district court found:

Even though Voss has not been charged for the murder of Ms. Baxter, Judge Stone made reference in his rendition of sentence, to his belief that she would not be found alive. He then imposed the maximum sentence on Voss, a sentence clearly outside the heartland of sentences for a person with Voss's criminal record being sentenced for forgery offenses.

I AA 013. Based on this finding, the district court concluded: "Because Judge Stone based Voss's onerous sentence, at least in part, on the suspect and impalpable

ground that Voss had murdered Ms. Baxter, Voss is entitled to a new sentencing hearing." I AA 013-14. The district court did not, however, conduct a new sentencing hearing, and approximately 17 years passed.

On August 25, 2018, the Nevada Court of Appeals entered an order granting Mr. Voss's petition for extraordinary relief and directed the district court to conduct the new sentencing hearing that had been ordered in 2001. I AA 017.

Prior to the new sentencing hearing, Mr. Voss filed various pro se motions, including a motion for new trial, a motion to rescind the order staying the proceedings, presentencing motions in limine, an amended motion for new trial, a motion to suspend resentencing, and a motion for the return of property. I AA 020, I AA 055, I AA 0605, I AA 076, I AA 155, I AA 167.

The district court resolved all of the motions in a single order that was entered on July 7, 2020. II AA 224. The same day, the district court conducted the re-sentencing hearing. II AA 233. The new judgment of conviction was entered on July 8, 2020. II AA 279-81. The district court sentenced Mr. Voss: for Count I, to a term of 12 to 48 months; for Counts II and III, to a term of 12 to 32 months for each count; for Counts IV and V, to a term of 12 to 32 months; and for Count VI to a term of 12 to 32 months. II JA 275-76. The sentences were ordered to run in a combination of consecutive and concurrent terms, with the aggregate

sentence imposed totaling a minimum of 48 months with a maximum of 144 months. II JA 276. This appeal followed.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Prior to the appointment of undersigned counsel, Mr. Voss filed an extensive pro se opening brief. The filing of this brief does not represent an abandonment of any of the arguments raised in the pro se brief but instead draws the court's attention to two of Mr. Voss's arguments.

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT'S PRESENTENCING MOTIONS IN LIMINE.

Mr. Voss raised various arguments in his presentencing motions in limine, and the arguments can be sorted into 3 basic categories. First, that the charges of uttering a forged instrument and forgery are duplicative; second that the charge of attempted theft is duplicative of all of the other counts, and finally that there was no finding of probable cause sufficient to bind Mr. Voss over on the forgery and burglary charges because the language in the charges in the criminal information differed from that in the criminal complaint.

Turning to the first and second arguments, it has long been recognized that the Double Jeopardy Clause protects against, inter alia, multiple punishments for the same offense. "Whether conduct that violates more than one criminal statute can produce multiple convictions in a single trial is essentially a question

of statutory construction, albeit statutory construction with a constitutional overlay. See United States v. McLaughlin, 164 F.3d 1, 7-8, 334 U.S. App. D.C. 1 (D.C. Cir. 1998)." Jackson v. State, 128 Nev. 598, 603, 291 P.3d 1274, 1277 (2012). The test utilized by the U.S. Supreme Court and by this court is set forth in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). That test "inquires whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other; if not, they are the 'same offence' and double jeopardy bars additional punishment and successive prosecution." United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 696 (1993).

However, "regardless of the outcome of the *Blockburger* test, a court may not impose punishment without ultimately concluding that the legislature so intended." *McLaughlin*, 164 F.3d at 9. Although the charges of uttering a forged instrument, forgery, and attempted theft may arguably "pass" the *Blockburger* test, this court should consider whether the legislature actually intended to impose punishments for all of these charges when they arise from the same incident. It is submitted that to allow Mr. Voss to be convicted for multiple counts of uttering a forged instrument, forgery, and attempted theft amounts to a violation of the Double Jeopardy clause.

complaint that was insufficiently specific with regard to the charge of forgery.¹ The district court focused on whether the charges were sufficiently specific for purposes of NRS 173.075. NRS 173.075 requires that "the indictment or the information must be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." The district court, however, overlooked an important component of Mr. Voss's argument. In addition to arguing that the charges were not sufficiently specific, Mr. Voss also argued in his motion that "there exist[ed] a material variance between the Count V charge as specified within the State's criminal complaint, and the Count V charge as specified within the State's subsequent criminal information." I JA 064. Mr. Voss made the same argument with regard to Count I. I JA 070. The district court completely failed to address this argument in its order resolving the motion. Given the district court's failure to address this part of the motion, this court cannot determine whether the district court abused its discretion by denying the motion and this matter should be

Finally, Mr. Voss argues that he was bound over on a criminal

¹Undersigned counsel has had difficulty obtaining various documents in this matter, due to the age of the case. Undersigned counsel has so far been unable to obtain a file-stamped copy of the complaint for inclusion in the appendix. Nonetheless, it is submitted that this court can consider whether the district court failed to analyze this issue, even without being able to compare the complaint to the information.

remanded to allow the district court to address the argument on its merits. *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 24-25, 174 P.3d 970, 985 (2008).

In sum, Mr. Voss argues that the district court's denial of his presentencing motions in limine was erroneous, and the judgment of conviction should be vacated and this matter remanded.

II. WHETHER THE SENTENCE IMPOSED AT RESENTENCING RUNS AFOUL OF THE CONCERNS EXPRESSED IN THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW UPON WHICH THE RESENTENCING WAS PREDICATED.

The primary issue that prompted the 2001 district court to order a new sentencing hearing recurred in the sentencing that occurred in 2020. Specifically, the district court in 2001 found that Mr. Voss's sentence was based on impalpable and suspect evidence because of the sentencing judge's belief that Mr. Voss might have been guilty of murdered the victim. This court has long held that "an abuse of discretion will be found when the defendant's sentence is prejudiced from consideration of information or accusations founded on impalpable or highly suspect evidence." *Goodson v. State*, 98 Nev. 493, 495-96, 654 P.2d 1006, 1007 (1982).

During the re-sentencing hearing, the State argued that the district court should take into consideration Mr. Voss's subsequent felony conviction, the very evidence which was found to be impalpable and suspect at Mr. Voss's first

sentencing hearing. The State essentially attempted to repeat the same error which the re-sentencing hearing was supposed to eliminate. This matter should therefore be remanded so that Mr. Voss can finally get a sentencing hearing that comports with the directive issued by the post-conviction court nearly 20 years ago.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, appellant Steven Floyd Voss respectfully requests that this Court reverse the conviction entered below.