#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN FLOYD VOSS,

No. 81472

Electronically Filed Mar 25 2021 01:59 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County District Attorney

Tracie K. Lindeman, Esq. P.O. Box 3733

Carson City, NV 89702

MARILEE CATE
Appellate Deputy
One South Sierre S

One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. Whether Voss has shown that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his presentence motions, when it considered controlling law and Voss has not supported his assignment of error with cogent argument or relevant portions of the record on appeal?
- B. Whether Voss has shown that the district court abused its sentencing discretion, when the record in fact shows that the district court expressly stated it would not consider the evidence he claims it improperly relied upon?

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>3</sup>

On June 14, 1996, deputies responded to the Jacpine Motel, located at 5501 West Fourth Street in Reno, related to a missing person's report for Beverly Ann Baxter. During the investigation of Ms. Baxter's disappearance, deputies learned that Voss had attempted to cash a \$5,000.00 check against Ms. Baxter's account at a local bank that same day. Deputies learned that Voss had previously deposited a settlement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State will address the facts relevant to Voss's claims from this sentencing hearing in the argument section of this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These facts are taken from pages 5 and 6 of the Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI") prepared in advance of the 1996 sentencing hearing. The State is contemporaneously moving to transmit the PSI.

check allegedly on behalf of Ms. Baxter in the amount of \$5,026.00. Bank representatives found Voss's behavior suspicious and refused to cash the second check made out to Voss without first contacting Ms. Baxter. Bank personnel also notified police.

Deputies arrived at the Bank and spoke with Voss, who admitted to depositing the settlement check. Voss claimed that Ms. Baxter had agreed to provide him with \$5,000.00 so he could place a down payment on a mobile home. Voss claimed to be unaware of Ms. Baxter's whereabouts, despite the alleged close relationship and Voss being the last person to have contact with her before.

Deputies later discovered that Voss went to Ms. Baxter's place of employment on June 12, 1996, and borrowed Ms. Baxter's keyring to allegedly check on repair work he had previously performed on her vehicle. Voss was observed that same day entering Ms. Baxter's residence while she was at work and when questioned claimed he went into the residence at Ms. Baxter's request to obtain "business papers" and make copies for her.

## IV. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

Voss has failed to present an adequate record or cogent argument on appeal to support his first assignment of error. Voss's second claim is

belied by the record. As such, this Court should affirm the judgment of conviction in this case.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Voss's Presentencing Motions in Limine.

Initially, it is of note that Voss raised several arguments in his presentence motions in limine. On Appeal, Voss focuses on two of his arguments, but asserts that he does not abandon any of the others.

Opening Brief ("OB"), pg. 4: 5-10. However, it is an appellant's burden to present "relevant authority and cogent argument" and the Nevada Supreme Court has held that "issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court." *Browning v. State*, 120 Nev. 347, 354, 91 P.3d 39, 45 (2004). As such, this Court should not consider the other arguments contained in Voss's motion(s) below because he has not presented cogent argument or authority on appeal to show that the district court erred by denying his motion on those grounds.

Voss next contends that this Court should consider whether the legislature actually intended to impose separate punishments for uttering a forged instrument, forgery, and attempted theft when they allegedly arise from the same incident. OB, pg. 5. Voss concedes that the charges at issue

pass the *Blockburger*<sup>4</sup> test, but maintains that his convictions for multiple counts of uttering a forged instrument, forgery, and attempted theft violates the Double Jeopardy clause. *Id.* Voss does not develop his argument on this point. However, the Nevada Supreme Court has rejected a similar argument in the past. It has explained that when the offenses at issue have separate elements, "the statutes do not proscribe the 'same offense,' and the presumption against multiple punishments for the 'same offense' does not arise, defeating [the appellant's] double jeopardy challenge[s]." *See Jackson v. State*, 128 Nev. 598, 607, 291 P.3d 1274, 1280 (2012). As such, Voss's Double Jeopardy argument is without merit.<sup>5</sup>

Voss's final contention regarding his pretrial motions is that the district court did not properly consider his claim related to whether the justice court had probable cause to bind him over for one of the forgery charges (Count V). Initially, Voss criticizes the district court because it allegedly did not consider this argument. However, the assertion at issue here was part of Voss's larger claim that the verdict for Count V should be set aside because the facts alleged in the charging document did not state

<sup>4</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Nevada Supreme Court has also rejected a "same conduct" approach to analyzing the issue. Thus, to the extent that Voss is claiming that the offenses were redundant, his challenge is also without merit. *See Jackson*, 128 Nev. at 608, 291 P.3d at 1280-1281.

an offense upon which judgment could be imposed. The district court concluded that Voss's claim had no merit because it found that the Information satisfied the statutory requirements for a charging document and Nevada Supreme Court precedent. 2 AA 227 (citing NRS 173.075 and Laney v. State, 86 Nev. 173, 177, 466 P.2d 666, 669 (1970), for the proposition that "a judgment will not be set aside or a new trial granted, in a criminal case, unless the accused is able to affirmatively demonstrate that the information is so insufficient that it results in a miscarriage of justice or actually prejudices him in respect to a substantial right.").

Voss has not shown that the district court acted arbitrarily or capriciously and/or ignored controlling law. *See Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005) (defining an abuse of discretion as a decision which is "arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason"); *MB America, Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing*, 132 Nev. 78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016) ("[a]n abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law."). Voss has failed to show that the district

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In separate portions of Voss's motion below, he argued that each of the verdicts needed to be set aside. The district court handled the arguments collectively in its order. 2 AA 226-227. The claim at issue on appeal only concerns his argument with respect to Count V.

court reached the wrong result. *See Wyatt v. State*, 86 Nev. 294, 468 P.2d 338 (1970) (a judgment or order will be affirmed on appeal if it reaches the right result, even though it is based on an incorrect ground).

The factual issue Voss raises concerns the Criminal Complaint filed in justice court, not the Information that preceded the jury verdict. Voss does not contend that the Information was faulty. Thus, Voss's argument concerns the probable cause stage of the proceeding and any error that may have occurred there would be harmless in light of the jury's guilty verdict. *See e.g., Dettloff v. State*, 120 Nev. 588, 596, 97 P.3d 586, 591 (2004). This argument could have also been easily dispensed with because it does not concern the new sentencing hearing ordered by the Court of Appeals and could have, and should have, been raised in earlier litigation. *See Witter v. State*, 135 Nev. 412, 416-417, 452 P.3d 412 (2019); *Jackson v. State*, 133 Nev. 880, 881-882, 410 P.3d 1004 (App. 2017).

Moreover, Voss has failed to show that the district court made a clearly erroneous factual determination. The district court reviewed the Information, which was the charging document that Voss proceeded to trial on. Voss's contentions concerned the Criminal Complaint from justice court, but Voss did not provide the district court with the document to support his claim. Nor has Voss provided this Court the Criminal

Complaint to support his contention on appeal. As such, this Court should presume that the missing document supports the district court's decision to move forward with sentencing. *See e.g. Cuzze v. University and Community College System of Nevada*, 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 135 (2007) (noting that NRAP 30(b)(3) requires an appellant to include any portion of the record that is necessary for the determination of the issues raised on appeal and holding "[w]hen an appellant fails to include necessary documentation in the record, we necessarily presume that the missing portion supports the district court's decision."). This Court should conclude that Voss has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion by denying his presentence motion in limine.

B. The sentence imposed is not a result of the consideration of impalpable or highly suspect information.

Voss contends that his judgment of conviction should be reversed because the State argued that the district court should consider his subsequent murder conviction, which was the very evidence that required his resentencing in the first instance. Voss's argument is without merit.

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently afforded district courts wide discretion in their sentencing decisions. *See Houk v. State*, 103 Nev. 659, 747 P.2d 1376 (1987). Appellate Courts will refrain from interfering with the sentence imposed "[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate

prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." *Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976).

Even assuming *arguendo*, that consideration of Voss's conviction that occurred between the offense in this case and the resentencing would amount to impalpable or highly suspect evidence, Voss has not shown that the district court relied on his subsequent murder conviction when it imposed his sentence here. Indeed, the district court expressly stated it would not consider any conviction after the original conviction in this case. It explained:

... I will not take into consideration any of the conviction post the conviction in Case No. CR96-1581. The way I – and this has already been the subject of an order issued by this court—the direction that is provided by the court of appeals in their order granting petition is that this court today is to step into the shoes of a court that would have sentenced Mr. Voss on November 20<sup>th</sup>, 1996. And the only thing that is relevant to this sentencing here today is what happened up to and including that date, and, accordingly, I will not consider that.

#### 2 AA 261.

The district court also noted that it would not consider the portions of the PSI offense synopsis that suggested Voss was involved in Ms. Baxter's disappearance based on its understanding of the Court of Appeals order.

Id. at 262-264. The district court also noted it would not consider all of the

matters in the PSI which Voss disputed. *Id.* at 265. The district court explained what it intended to consider as follows:

So, I want you to know that what I intend to do is look at the law of the case, which is that a jury found you guilty of all six counts that were filed in the original information. And I don't want to marginalize the PSI. It's very important. It gives me some very important information about what happened here, about who you are, about your history, et cetera. But to the extent that you have raised issues that are in conflict today, I am not going to consider those and I'm going to give you the benefit of the doubt as to all of them.

Id.

The record belies Voss's claim that the district court considered impalpable or highly suspect information. Indeed, the district court made it clear that it would not consider disputed PSI matters or Voss's subsequent murder conviction. Voss does not contend that his sentence exceeded the statutory range. Therefore, Voss has failed to show that the district court abused its broad sentencing discretion, and this Court should not interfere with the sentence imposed.

/// /// ///

///

# VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing the judgment of conviction should be affirmed.